
Please note: Electronic copies of this agenda and its related papers  
are available via the Council’s website www.maldon.gov.uk. 

 

 

15 July 2025 

 

APOLOGIES: Committee Services  CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
Doug Wilkinson  Email: Committee.clerk@maldon.gov.uk  

 
 
Dear Councillor 

 
You are summoned to attend the meeting of the; 

 

SOUTH EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE  

 

on WEDNESDAY 23 JULY 2025 at 7.30 pm 

 

in the Burnham Town Council Offices, Chapel Road, Burnham-on-Crouch, Essex, CM0 8JA. 

 
Please Note: All meetings will be live streamed on the Council’s YouTube channel for those wishing 
to observe remotely. Public participants wishing to speak remotely at a meeting can do so via 
Microsoft Teams. 
 
To register your request to speak / attend in person please complete a Public Access form (to be 
submitted by 12noon on the working day before the Committee meeting). All requests will be 
considered on a first-come, first-served basis. 
 
A copy of the agenda is attached. 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Chief Executive 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP:  

CHAIRPERSON Councillor V J Bell 

VICE-CHAIRPERSON Councillor A Fittock 

COUNCILLORS M G Bassenger 
D O Bown 
A S Fluker 
L J Haywood 
W J Laybourn 
M G Neall 
R G Pratt 
U C G Siddall-Norman 
W Stamp, CC 

Unrestricted Document Pack

http://www.maldon.gov.uk/
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/watchlive
https://forms.office.com/Pages/ResponsePage.aspx?id=VH_RilQmuUumwvI0YlcqFJCd4KzoXBdDs1brNZU39TJUOVpCU0xQVlRWQlhHVU8wVThIMU03UjFLSC4u


 

Page 2 

AGENDA 
SOUTH EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 

WEDNESDAY 23 JULY 2025 
 
1. Chairperson's notices   
 
2. Apologies for Absence   
 
3. Minutes of the last meeting  (To Follow) 
 
 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 25 June 2025. 

 
4. Disclosure of Interest   
 
 To disclose the existence and nature of any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, Other 

Registrable interests and Non-Registrable Interests relating to items of business on 
the agenda having regard to paragraph 9 and Appendix B of the Code of Conduct for 
Members.  
 
(Members are reminded that they are also required to disclose any such interests as 
soon as they become aware should the need arise throughout the meeting).  
 

5. 24/00947/FUL (PD),Land West of Thatched Cottage Green Lane Burnham-On-
Crouch Essex  (Pages 7 - 30) 

 
 To consider the report of the Assistant Director: Planning and Implementation, (copy 

enclosed, Members’ Update to be circulated)*. 
 

6. Any other items of business that the Chairperson of the Committee decides are 
urgent   

 

 

 
 

 
 

Note: 
1. The Council operates a facility for public participation. This will operate only in 

relation to the consideration and determination of planning applications under 
Agenda Item No. 5. 

2.  The Committee may consider representation from one objector, one supporter, a 
Parish / Town Council representative, and the applicant / agent. Please note that the 
opportunity to participate is afforded only to those having previously made written 
representation. 

3.  Anyone wishing to participate must register by completing the online form no later 
than noon on the working day before the Committee meeting. 

4.  For further information please see the Council’s website – 
www.maldon.gov.uk/committees  

* Please note the list of related Background Papers attached to this agenda. 

https://forms.office.com/Pages/ResponsePage.aspx?id=VH_RilQmuUumwvI0YlcqFJCd4KzoXBdDs1brNZU39TJUOVpCU0xQVlRWQlhHVU8wVThIMU03UjFLSC4u
http://www.maldon.gov.uk/committees


 

Page 3 

NOTICES 
 
Recording of Meeting 
Please note that the Council will be recording and publishing on the Council’s website any 
part of this meeting held in open session.   
 
Fire 
In the event of a fire, Officers will notify those present. Please use the fire exits marked with 
the green running man. The fire assembly point is Barclays Bank car park. Please gather 
there and await further instruction. 

 



 

Page 4 

DISTRICT AND AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
The Background Papers listed below have been relied upon in the preparation of this report: 

1. The current planning applications under consideration and related correspondence. 

2. All third-party representations and consultation replies received. 

3. The following Statutory Development Plans and Other Material Considerations: 
 

Statutory Development Plans 

 Maldon District Local Development Plan 2014-2029 - approved by the Secretary of 
State 21 July 2017 

 Burnham-On-Crouch Neighbourhood Development Plan (Made 7 Sept 2017) 

 Wickham Bishops Neighbourhood Development Plan (Made 30 June 2021) 

 Langford and Ulting Neighbourhood Development Plan (Made 31 March 2022) 

 Great Totham Neighbourhood Development Plan and Village Design Statement 
(Made 6 July 2022) 

 Essex and Southend on Sea Waste Local Plan 2017 

 Essex Minerals Local Plan 2014 

 

Other Material Considerations 

Legislation 

 The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) 

 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 

 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

 Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990 

 The Planning and Compensation Act 1991  

 Human Rights Act 1998 

 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) 

 The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 

 Localism Act 2011 

 The Planning Act 2008 

 Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 

 Equality Act 2010 

 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) 

 The Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012 

 The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 

 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended) 

 Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013 

 The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as 
amended) 

 The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 
2015 

 Housing and Planning Act 2016 

https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/14807/approved_maldon_district_local_development_plan_2014-2029
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/15826/burnham-on-crouch_ndp_made_070717_final
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/18555/wbnp_march_2021_final_version
http://www.maldon.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/18828/referendum_version_of_langford_and_ulting_neighbourhood_plan_jan_22.pdf
http://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/18974/great_totham_neighbourhood_plan_-_referendum_version
http://www.maldon.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/18952/gtnp_appendix_1_village_design_statement.pdf
https://www.essex.gov.uk/sites/default/files/migration_data/files/assets.ctfassets.net/knkzaf64jx5x/5MMZ5nNFmOClpF56igb0Jc/e6f7ab4cba4ed1198c67b87be7b375e7/waste-local-plan-2017-compressed.pdf
https://www.essex.gov.uk/sites/default/files/migration_data/files/assets.ctfassets.net/knkzaf64jx5x/5UZuVtnjZbJ81olvZoZKVX/90acfc65df6fa8ee8ab20df3f0cda1c8/essex-minerals-local-plan-adopted-july-2014.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1987/764/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/10/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/34#:~:text=An%20Act%20to%20amend%20the%20law%20relating%20to,are%20displaced%20from%20land%20or%20the%20value%20o
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/783/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/29/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/23/contents/2024-05-09
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2010/9780111492390/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/605/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/27/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/22/contents


 

Page 5 

 The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Regulations 2016 

 The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 

 Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 

 The Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land Register) Regulations 2017 

 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

 Environment Act 2021 

 Levelling Up and Regeneration Act 2023 

 The Biodiversity Gain (Town and Country Planning) (Consequential Amendments) 
Regulations 2024 

 The Biodiversity Gain Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024 

 The Biodiversity Gain (Town and Country Planning) (Modifications and Amendments) 
(England) Regulations 2024 

National Planning Policy  

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 Planning Policy for Travellers Sites 2024  

 Written Ministerial Statements – as / if referred to in the report 

 Government Circulars – as / if referred to in the report 

Guidance, Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) and Design Statements  

National-scale 

 National Planning Practice Guidance 

Sub-Regional / Essex-scale 

 Essex and South Suffolk Shoreline Management Plan (SMP) - October 2010 

 South East Inshore Marine Plan - June 2021 

 The Essex Design Guide  

District-scale 

 North Heybridge Garden Suburb Strategic Masterplan Framework – 2014 

 Maldon District Design Guide SPD 2018 

 Maldon and Heybridge Central Area Masterplan SPD – 2017 

 South Maldon Garden Suburb Strategic Masterplan Framework SPD – 2018  

 Maldon District Vehicle Parking Standards SPD – 2018 

 Maldon District Renewable and Low Carbon Technologies SPD – 2018 

 Maldon District Specialist Needs Housing SPD – 2018 

 Maldon District Affordable Housing and Viability SPD – 2018- amended 2019 

 Maldon District Green Infrastructure Strategy SPD - 2019 

 Essex Coast Recreational Disturbance Avoidance Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) SPD - 2020 

 North Quay Development Brief SPD - 2020  

 Maldon District Five Year Housing Land Annual Supply Statement – May 2024 
 
 
 
 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/950/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/environmental-impact-assessment
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/20/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/403/contents#:~:text=These%20Regulations%20place%20a%20duty%20on%20each%20local,%E2%80%9Cbrownfield%20land%E2%80%9D%29%20which%20is%20suitable%20for%20residential%20development.
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2023/55/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2024/9780348254419
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2024/9780348254419
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2024/9780348254419
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2024/47/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2024/50/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2024/50/contents/made
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/675abd214cbda57cacd3476e/NPPF-December-2024.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-policy-for-traveller-sites/planning-policy-for-traveller-sites
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://environment.data.gov.uk/shoreline-planning/shoreline-management-plan/SMP8
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60f6f6dde90e0764ccfbd836/FINAL_South_East_Marine_Plan__1_.pdf
https://www.essexdesignguide.co.uk/
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/publications/LDP/supporting_documents/4%20Other/DOC122.pdf
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/info/7050/planning_policy/9715/maldon_district_design_guide
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/info/7050/planning_policy/9717/maldon_and_heybridge_central_area_masterplan
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/publications/LDP/supporting_documents/4%20Other/DOC121.pdf
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/info/7050/planning_policy/8114/other_local_plan_documents/5
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/info/7050/planning_policy/8114/other_local_plan_documents/2
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/info/7050/planning_policy/8114/other_local_plan_documents/4
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/info/7050/planning_policy/8114/other_local_plan_documents/3
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/info/7050/planning_policy/8114/other_local_plan_documents/7
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/info/7050/planning_policy/8114/other_local_plan_documents/8
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/info/7050/planning_policy/8114/other_local_plan_documents/9
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/info/7050/planning_policy/9722/monitoring_documents


 

Page 6 

Local-scale  

 Heybridge Basin Village Design Statement – 2007 

 Althorne Village Design Statement - 2015 

 Woodham Walter Village Design Statement – 2017 

Maldon District Local Development Plan Review Evidence Base  

 Various Conservation Area Appraisals 

 Maldon District Viability Study 2020 

 Maldon District Economic Study 2020 

 Maldon District Local Housing Needs Assessment 2021 

 Maldon District Nature Conservation Study 2022 

 Assessment of Selected Sites  

 Maldon District Local Wildlife Sites Register 2022 

 Maldon Wildlife Sites Ratification Letter 2024 

 Maldon District Rural Facilities Survey and Settlement Pattern 2023 

 Maldon District Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) 2023 

 Maldon District Employment Land and Premises Study 2024 

 Appendix G 

 Appendix H  

 Appendix I 

 Appendix J 

 
 

All Background Papers are available for electronic inspection at the Maldon District Council 
Offices, Princes Road, Maldon, Essex CM9 5DL during opening hours. 

 

https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/8039/heybridge_basin_vds_2006
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/8036/althorne_vds_2015
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/14780/woodham_walter_village_design_statement
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/18819/cil_viability_2020.pdf
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/18697/maldon_district_economy_study_january_2021.pdf
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/18676/maldon_district_local_housing_needs_assessment_may_2021.pdf
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/19766/maldon_nature_conservation_study_2022
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/19767/maldon_nature_conservation_study_-_assessment_of_selected_sites
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/19768/maldon_local_wildlife_sites_register_2022
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/19769/maldon_wildlife_sites_ratification_letter
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/19488/maldon_district_rural_facilities_survey_and_settlement_pattern_2023
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/19445/housing_and_economic_land_availability_assessment_october_2023
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/19675/maldon_employment_land_and_premises_study
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/19676/elps_-_appendix_g
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/19677/elps_-_appendix_h
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/19678/elps_-_appendix_i
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/19679/elps_-_appendix_j
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/info/20061/your_council/9231/contact_us#:~:text=The%20Council%20offices%20are%20open%20weekdays%2010am%20-,require%20an%20appointment%20to%20be%20made%20before%20visiting%29.


 

Our Vision: Sustainable Council – Prosperous Future 

REPORT of 
ASSISTANT DIRECTOR: PLANNING AND IMPLEMENTATION 

to 
SOUTH EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 
23 July 2025 
 

Application Number 24/00947/FUL 

Location 
Land West of Thatched Cottage Green Lane Burnham-
On-Crouch Essex 

Proposal Erection of 3 no detached dwellings with garages 

Applicant Penny Homes Ltd 

Agent Andrew Pipe Associates 

Target Decision Date 31.07.2025 

Case Officer Patrick Daly 

Parish BURNHAM-ON-CROUCH  

Reason for Referral to the 
Committee / Council 

Departure from the Local Plan 
Member Call-in by Cllr Stamp for the Housing Mix (Policy 
H2) and Outside of Settlement Boundary (Policy S8) 

 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

 
APPROVE subject to the submitted Unilateral Undertaking to secure the planning 
obligations and subject to conditions as detailed in Section 8 of this report. 

 

2. SITE MAP 

 
Please see below. 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



 

   

Page 8



 
3. SUMMARY 
 
3.1 Proposal / brief overview, including any relevant background information 

 
Application site 

 
3.1.1 The application site is located to the south of Green Lane, adjacent to the junction 

with Mangapp Chase and lies outside of the settlement boundaries of both Burnham-
on-Crouch (to the south) and Stoneyhills (immediately to the northeast). It consists of 
an existing greenfield site, with substantial foliage to all boundaries. The site benefits 
from an existing gated access to the northeast corner.  

 
3.1.2 Regarding the immediate surroundings of the site, to the south is mostly agricultural 

in character, with a working farmyard to the west. To the north there are dwellings 
located on Mangapp Chase, with the settlement boundary of Stoneyhills 
incorporating the dwellings on the eastern side of the road. Further dwellings outside 
of the settlement boundary are located to the north of Green Lane and a thatched 
cottage to the east. 

 
3.1.3 The site does not form part of a conservation area but the cottage immediately to the 

east is Grade II listed. The site is not subject to any ecological designations and there 
are no Tree Preservation Orders (TPO’s). The site is sited in Flood Zone 1, but it 
should be noted that Flood Zones 2 and 3 are located just offsite to the west and 
south. 
 
Proposal 

  
3.1.4 Planning permission is sought for three dwellings with associated garages, with a 

singular access centrally derived from Green Lane. The western most dwelling (Plot 
3) would be located close to Green Lane, albeit set back behind the retained 
hedgerow. The easternmost dwelling (Plot 1) would be located further back behind 
the retained hedgerow and a proposed wildflower area. The third dwelling (Plot 2) 
would be centrally located, yet to the rear of the plot, angled slightly and incorporating 
bushes and foliage. A breakdown of the proposed dwellings would be as follows: 

 Plot 1: four bedroom detached dwelling of 1.5 storey dwellinghouse (7.6m to 
ridge) with single detached garage, total combined floor area of 242sq.m; 

 Plot 2: four bedroom detached 1.5 and 2 storey dwellinghouse (6.7m) with 
single detached garage (195sq.m) and 

 Plot 3: four bedroom detached 2 storey dwellinghouse (8.7m) with single 
detached garage (242sq.m). 

 
3.1.5 Parking would be provided at a minimum of two spaces per property plus additional 

covered garage spaces. 
 

3.1.6 The existing hedgerow fronting onto Green Lane would be retained save for the 
ingress/egress point. Wildflower meadow would be planted to the northeast in front of 
Plot 1 and an additional area between Plots 2 and 3. Further hedgerow is scattered 
strategically throughout the site  

 
Background 

 
3.1.7 Whilst there is no planning history for the site, there have been a number of 

permissions for dwellings in close proximity to the site, the closest being the northern 
dwelling diagonally opposite the site that was granted consent via 14/00222/FUL for 
a five-bedroom detached residential dwelling, which was amended to add a further 

Page 9



 
three habitable rooms in the roofscape with dormers via 16/00610/FUL and has been 
implemented. Further consents have been granted on Mangapp Close to the north. 

 
3.1.8 It should also be noted to the south of the site is a Strategic Growth Site as set out in 

the Local Development Plan (LDP) (S2(j)) for the provision of 180 dwellings, which 
was granted consent and has since been implemented.  

 
 Conclusion 

 
3.1.9 The site is outside any defined settlement boundary where the principle of new 

residential development is not supported. As the Council cannot demonstrate a Five-
Year Housing Land Supply (5YHLS) the tilted balance in favour of sustainable 
development is engaged. For the reasons explained in this report, the site is located 
in a sustainable location in close proximity to Burnham-on-Crouch and Stoneyhills 
settlement boundaries, which provide for a range of facilities, services and various 
transport modes for accessibility. The principle of the development as sustainable 
development and a departure from the (LDP) is therefore acceptable along with all 
other material planning considerations.  

 
3.1.10 The scale and layout is acceptable and well considered, stepping back the scale of 

development from the roadside and increasing southward to two storeys. Materials 
proposed are in keeping with the prevailing character of the area and what is 
characteristic of Maldon more broadly. 

 
3.1.11 Although the site would be accessed at a position where there is a change in speed, 

Essex County Council (ECC) Highways have no objection with regard to highway 
safety, subject to conditions and the provision of sufficient visibility splays. The 
technical matters assessed raise no concerns subject to conditions.  

 
3.1.12 The proposal would result in new dwellings which is a social benefit and there would 

be economic benefits through the construction of the dwelling. The environmental 
harm resulting from the development, in this rural location is offset by a modicum of 
onsite Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) provision and the procurement of local BNG credit 
will be sought and is acceptable in this instance. Whilst these benefits are relatively 
small in the context of Maldon, they nonetheless tip the balance in favour of the 
development. 

 
3.1.13 As such, the proposal is recommended for approval. 
 

4. MAIN RELEVANT POLICIES 

 
Members’ attention is drawn to the list of background papers attached to the agenda. 

 
4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) including paragraphs: 

 7   Sustainable development 

 8   Three objectives of sustainable development 

 10 - 12  Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

 39   Decision-making 

 48 - 51  Determining applications  

 56 - 59  Planning conditions and obligations 

 61 – 84 Delivering a sufficient supply of homes. 

 109 - 118  Promoting sustainable transport 

Page 10



 

 124 - 130  Making effective use of land 

 131 - 141  Achieving well-designed places 

 161 -186 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 

 187 – 201 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

 202 – 221 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 

4.2 Maldon District Local Development Plan (LDP) (2017) approved by the 
Secretary of State  

 S1 Sustainable Development 

 S2  Strategic Growth 

 S8 Settlement Boundaries and the Countryside 

 D1 Design Quality and Built Environment 

 D2 Climate Change & Environmental Impact of New Development 

 D3 Conservation Area and Heritage Assets 

 D5 Flood Risk and Coastal Management 

 H2 Housing Mix 

 H4 Effective Use of Land 

 N2 Natural Environment and Biodiversity 

 T1 Sustainable Transport 

 T2 Accessibility 

 I1  Infrastructure and Services 
 

4.3 Burnham-on-Crouch Neighbourhood Plan (BoCNP) 

 S1 Strategic Housing Growth 

 EN.2 New Development and Flood Risk 

 EN.3 Enhancement of the Natural Environment 

 EN.7 Waste Bins Storage 

 HC.2 New Development Features 

 HO.1 New Residential Development 

 HO.2 Range and Type of New Residential Development 

 HO.8 Housing Design Principles 
 

4.4 Relevant Planning Guidance / Documents: 

 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)  

 Maldon District Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

 Maldon District Vehicle Parking Standards (SPD) 

 Essex Coast Recreational disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy 
(RAMS) (SPD) 

 Maldon District Design Guide (MDDG) (2017) 
 
  

Page 11



 
5. MAIN CONSIDERATIONS 

 
5.1 Principle of Development 
 
5.1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Section 70(2) of 

the 1990 Act and Paragraph 47 of the NPPF require that planning applications are 
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. In this case the Development Plan comprises of the adopted 
Maldon District Local Plan 2014-2029 (LDP) and the BoCNP. 
 

5.1.2 Policy S1 of the LDP states that ‘When considering development proposals, the 
Council will take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development contained in the NPPF’ and apply a number of key 
principles in policy and decision making set out in the policy. 

 
5.1.3 To deliver the economic and residential growth in the District whilst protecting and 

enhancing the area’s natural, built and historic environment, LDP Policy S2 seeks to 
focus development on existing settlements subject to their role, accessibility and 
constraints. 

 
5.1.4 Policy S8 of the LDP, flows from Policy S2 and steers new development towards the 

existing urban areas. Policy S8 does allow for development outside the rural areas 
where the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside is not adversely impacted 
upon and provided that it is for specified purposes. These specified purposes do not 
include new build general residential dwellings but does allow major (m) development 
which complies with other policies of the LDP. 

 
5.1.5 Policy S1 of the BoCNP states that “Within the Plan period a minimum of 450 

dwellings will be provided… through the development of the strategic housing sites… 
and on other windfall sites”.  

 
5.1.6 The site is situated outside of the defined development boundary for Burnham-on-

Crouch and Stoneyhills and therefore policies of rural constraint apply. 
 

Five Year Housing Land Supply 
 

5.1.7  Paragraph 78 of the NPPF states that, “Local planning authorities should identify and 
update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum 
of five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirement set out in adopted 
strategic policies, or against their local housing need where the strategic policies are 
more than five years old. Footnote 39 of Paragraph 78 states:  

 
“Unless these strategic policies have been reviewed and found not to require 
updating. Where local housing need is used as the basis for assessing whether a 
five-year supply of specific deliverable sites exists, it should be calculated using the 
standard method set out in national planning practice guidance.” 
  

5.1.8 Currently the Council can only demonstrate 2.7 years’ worth of housing land supply. 
This is due to changes through the latest NPPF (2024) which introduced a new 
method for assessing housing need that reflects the current Government’s approach 
to building more houses. This also means that polices with housing targets such as 
policy S2 in the LDP can be considered to be non-compliant with the NPPF and 
therefore out of date. This means that the NPPF requirements apply as the most up 
to date policy position. 
  

Page 12



 
5.1.9 Whilst the proposal is considered contrary to policy S8, in regard to settlement 

boundaries, the policy cannot be considered an up to date because the Council 
cannot demonstrate an up to date 5YHLS and therefore the principle of development 
proposals on sites such as this, as a windfall site, shall need to be considered on the 
basis of whether they are sustainable or not. This means that the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development as set out in paragraph 11 of the NPPF is 
applicable.  
 

5.1.10 Given the Council’s current position in regard to not being able to demonstrate an up 
to date 5YHLS, the NPPF’s titled balance of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development as set out in paragraph 11d of the NPPF applies unless, ‘any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole, having 
particular regard to key policies for directing development to sustainable locations, 
making effective use of land, securing well-designed places and providing affordable 
homes, individually or in combination’.  
 
Sustainable Development 

 
5.1.11 It is necessary to assess whether the proposed development is ‘sustainable 

development’ as defined in the NPPF. If the site is considered sustainable then the 
NPPF’s ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ applies. There are three 
dimensions to sustainable development as defined in the NPPF. These are the 
economic, social and environmental roles. The LDP through Policy S1 re-iterates the 
requirements of the NPPF. Policy S1 allows for new development within the defined 
development boundaries. The presumption in favour of sustainable development 
does not change the statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for 
decision making. 
 
Environmental Dimension 
 

5.1.12 Accessibility is a key component of the environmental dimension of sustainable 
development. Policy T1 aims to secure the provision of sustainable transport within 
the District and Policy T2 aims to create and maintain and accessible environment. 
Policy D2 of the same Plan seeks to reduce the need to travel, particularly by private 
vehicle, by encouraging sustainable modes of transport. Paragraph 105 of the NPPF 
acknowledges that “development should be focused on locations which are or can be 
made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of 
transport modes”. This is supported by the update of the Government’s Policy Paper, 
‘Strategic road network and the delivery of sustainable development’ (Updated 23 
December 2022), which is to be read in conjunction with the NPPF. Paragraph 12 of 
this paper asserts that “new development should be facilitating a reduction in the 
need to travel by private car and focused on locations that are or can be made 
sustainable”.  
 

5.1.13 The application site is outside any settlement boundaries. Green Lane is a single 
track lane with passing places, with a 60mph speed limit to the west of the site and 
30mph limit to the east. However, the settlement boundary of Stoneyhills is located 
directly across the road to the northeast of the site. To the south is the strategic site 
allocation S2(j) and the settlement boundary of Burnham-on-Crouch. Approximately 
200m to the west of the site, off Green Lane, is the walking and cycling route 
connecting to Grangewood Park Avenue to the south. Further to the west is the 
B1010 which has bus routes into Burnham-on-Crouch centre and to Maldon and 
Chelmsford. To the east, Green Lane connects with Southminster Road which has 
bus services into Burnham-on-Crouch centre and to Southminster to the north.  
 

Page 13



 
5.1.14 Furthermore, planning permission (14/00222/FUL) was granted by the South Eastern 

Area Planning Committee for a dwelling diagonally opposite the site to the north 
west. Similarly, other applications for residential dwellings on Green Lane have been 
approved either by Committee or on appeal over the past decade.  
 

5.1.15 Although accessibility along Green Lane itself is poor, being single lane, unlit and 
with limited footways, the site is in close proximity to bus routes and the facilities and 
services in the nearby settlements. Based on the above it is considered that the site 
has reasonable accessibility in terms of the NPPF sustainability considerations. 
 
With regard to other Environmental considerations these are assessed in detail in the 
report below.  
 
Social Dimension 

 
5.1.16 The development would make a nominal contribution towards the supply of housing 

within the District as only three dwellings are proposed.  
 

Economic Dimension 
 
5.1.17 The development would make a nominal contribution to the local economy through 

the construction of the dwellings and additional custom for existing businesses.  
 
Summary of Principle of Development 

 
5.1.18 Based upon the Council’s 5YHLS position the tilted balance in favour of sustainable 

development applies. Therefore, the development of sites such as this outside of 
settlement boundaries need to be considered as to whether the development is 
sustainable development to meet the definition of the NPPF and LDP policy S1. For 
the reasons explained above the site is considered to be located in a sustainable 
location for this development in close proximity and accessible to the main settlement 
of Burnham-on-Crouch as defined in policy S8 which provides for a range of facilities, 
services and various transport modes for accessibility. The principle of the 
development as sustainable development and a departure from the (LDP) is 
therefore considered acceptable.  

 
5.2 Housing Provision and Mix 

 
5.2.1 The NPPF is clear that housing should be provided to meet an identified need and 

the Local Housing Needs Assessment (2021) (LHNA) is an assessment of housing 
need for Maldon District, as a whole, as well as sub-areas across the District which 
are considered alongside the housing market geography in this report. The LHNA is 
wholly compliant with the latest NPPF and National Planning Policy Guidance 
(NPPG) and provides the Council with a clear understanding of the local housing 
need in the District and demographic implications of this, the need for affordable 
housing, the need for older persons housing, the need for different types, tenures and 
sizes of housing, the housing need for specific groups and the need to provide 
housing for specific housing market segments such as self-build housing.  
 

5.2.2 Policy H2 of the LDP requires developments “to provide a suitable mix and range of 
housing in terms of size, type and tenure to reflect local housing need and demand”. 
Policy HO.2 of the BoCNP requires a range and type of new housing. The LHNA 
(2021) concludes that the District has a need for smaller dwellings, however the 
biggest requirement is for three bed dwellings (40-50%) and additional need for two 
bed dwellings (25-35%). 

 

Page 14



 
5.2.3 The proposals would deliver three four-bedroom dwellings. Whilst the proposal would 

not provide a dwelling to meet the majority of housing needs in the District it would 
still meet a requirement for four+ bedroom dwellings in the District. The proposal 
would make a nominal contribution given the scale of the proposal and would not 
contribute towards the District’s biggest requirement for three bedroom dwellings. 
Nonetheless, the proposal is not considered unacceptable based on housing mix and 
policy H2 and the proposal is providing housing albeit at larger sizes and this must 
still be weighed in the planning balance.  
 

5.3 Design and Impact on the Character of the Area 
 
5.3.1 The planning system promotes high quality development through good inclusive 

design and layout, and the creation of safe, sustainable, liveable and mixed 
communities. Good design should be indivisible from good planning. Recognised 
principles of good design seek to create a high-quality built environment for all types 
of development. 
 

5.3.2 It should be noted that good design is fundamental to high quality new development 
and its importance is reflected in the NPPF. Similar support for high quality design 
and the appropriate layout, scale and detailing of development is required by Policy 
D1 and H4 of the LDP and is found within the MDDG (2017). 
 

5.3.3 The basis of Policy D1 of the approved LDP seeks to ensure that all development will 
respect and enhance the character and local context and make a positive 
contribution in terms of: 

a) Architectural style, use of materials, detailed design features and construction 
methods. Innovative design and construction solutions will be considered 
where appropriate;  

b) Height, size, scale, form, massing and proportion;  

c) Landscape setting, townscape setting and skylines;  

d) Layout, orientation, and density; 
 
5.3.4 Similar support for high quality design and the appropriate layout, scale and detailing 

of development is found within the MDDG. 
 

5.3.5 In addition, Policy H4 requires all development to be design-led and to seek to 
optimise the use of land having regard, among others, to the location and the setting 
of the site, and the existing character and density of the surrounding area. The policy 
also seeks to promote development which maintains, and where possible enhances, 
the character and sustainability of the original building and the surrounding area; is of 
an appropriate scale and design that makes a positive contribution to the character of 
the original building and the surrounding area. 
 

5.3.6 Policy HO.8 of the BoCNP states that proposals for housing development should 
produce high quality schemes that reflect the character and appearance of their 
immediate surroundings. Policy HC.2 of the BoCNP requires new housing should 
produce high quality scheme that reflect the character and appearance of their 
immediate surroundings. 
 

5.3.7 The application site forms part of an existing field that is set within a countryside 
location, which is reinforced by a farmyard to the west. However, it lies adjacent to 
the settlement boundary of Stoneyhills, which is to the northeast and there are further 
dwellings to the north and east of the site. The urban grain of Stoneyhills is relatively 
dense, appearing suburban in character, consisting of both linear developments 
fronting the Mangapp Chase and Green Lane and cul-de-sacs that flow from it.  

Page 15



 
 
5.3.8 Turning back to the immediate surrounds, whilst the context of the farmyard is 

important, the dwellings to the north and east are more pertinent in this instance, as 
they also lie outside of the settlement boundary. Attention is drawn to the northern 
dwelling diagonally opposite the site that was granted consent via 14/00222/FUL for 
a five-bedroom detached residential dwelling with detached double garage, which 
also received consent for an amended to add a further three habitable rooms in the 
roofscape with dormers via 16/00610/FUL. This development has been implemented 
and has extended the built form from those located outside of the settlement 
boundary to the west on Mangapp Chase westward along Green Lane, partially 
infilling a gap to those dwellings located further on Green Lane.  

 
Layout 

 
5.3.9 Looking at the development in greater detail, the site would be arranged in a semi-

organic manner, with Plots One and Three located to the front of the site, albeit with 
Plot one set back further so as to negate a more formal linear pattern on Green Lane. 
Plot two would be set back further still to the rear of the site, with its principal façade 
angled to the northwest. The access would be centrally located. The retention of 
hedging fronting Green Lane assists in softening the appearance of development and 
the incorporation of wildflower planting and internal hedging adequately separates 
the plots and is broadly welcomed. 

 
Scale 

 
5.3.10 The scale of the proposals varies between 6.7m to 8.7m, with the tallest unit (Plot 

three) located to the rear of the site so as to address any concerns of 
overbearingness on the surrounding rural setting from the public highway and so that 
there is a gradual increase in scale as one moves southward through the site. By 
comparison, the dwelling to the north consented via 14/00222/FUL was permitted at 
9.3m and is more prominent in views on Green Lane. Given this context and the 
considered nature of the scheme, the proposals are in keeping with prevailing 
building heights. 

 
Appearance 

 
5.3.11 Moving to detailed design, the dwellings would incorporate, brick detailing (brick 

plinths, voussoirs etc.), clay roof tiles, render and weatherboarding with traditional 
window designs, seeking to reflect the surroundings. The dwellings would benefit 
from deep soffits, gable ends and with dormer windows on the smaller units all of 
which are considered acceptable. The materials and detailing proposed is supported. 

 
Landscaping 

 
5.3.12 The landscaping proposed as part of the proposals is relatively simple in nature, 

limited to the retention of the existing hedging, some tree planting, provision of 
garden boundary hedging and wildflower meadow in selected areas to separate plots 
and to fill residual parcels of land. The landscaping strategy is considered broadly 
acceptable, subject to conditions regarding further hard and soft landscaping details, 
planting implementation and aftercare and the retention of existing trees.  

 
 Character and Appearance of the Area 
 
5.3.13 Regarding the character and appearance of the area, notwithstanding the site’s 

countryside and rural setting, as identified earlier, the site lies adjacent to existing 
housing to the north and east. The retention of the hedging screens the development 

Page 16



 
from public vantage points on Green Lane, aside from the access point, which itself is 
not proposed to incorporate paraphernalia. Moreover, the site is not readily visible 
from other points to the south, east and west given existing thick foliage.  

 
5.3.14 Within the site, the inclusion of wildflower meadow planting softens the built form and 

assists in retaining attributes of rurality together with the retained and future hedging.  
 

Conclusion 
 
5.3.15 The proposal is acceptable on design grounds, and it would not have a harmful effect 

on the character and appearance of the area, being in accordance with policies S1, 
D1 and H4 of the LDP and policies HO.8 and HC.2 of the BoCNP. 
 

5.4 Heritage Impacts 
 
5.4.1 Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

requires the Council to pay special attention to desirability of preserving or enhancing 
the character or appearance of the conservation area. Section 66(1) of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that the Council must 
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the listed building or its setting or 
any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.   

 
5.4.2 Policy D3 of the approved LDP states that development proposals that affect heritage 

assets must preserve or enhance its special character, appearance, setting and any 
features and fabric of architectural or historic interest. Where a proposed 
development would cause less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm will be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal, including securing its optimum viable use. Policy S5 is also relevant as it 
seeks, at 7)(???), to preserve and enhance the quality of the historic character 
including the built environment.  

 
5.4.3 Whilst the site is not located within a conservation area, it lies adjacent to Thatched 

Cottage to the east, which is a grade II listed building. The significance of Thatched 
Cottage as a grade II listed building derives from its architectural interest as an 
example of a late-Georgian thatched cottage although it is accepted that its semi-
rural setting that contributes to its setting is somewhat diminished as it is now located 
opposite the settlement boundary of Stoneyhills.  

 
5.4.4 Regarding the development and its impact on the heritage asset, the Heritage and 

Conservation Officer has been consulted and has advised that despite the dwelling of 
Plot One being higher than the heritage asset, the distance between both structures 
and the mild downward gradient change from east to west would overcome any 
concerns and would ensure that  the development would not harm the listed 
building’s significance. Conditions are recommended in regard to materials for the 
buildings and boundary treatments. 

 
5.4.5 Given the above, the proposal poses no conflict with policy D3 of the Maldon LDP, 

chapter 16 of the NPPF or with the duty set out in section 66(1) of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

 
5.5 Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
5.5.1 The basis of Policy D1 of the approved LDP seeks to ensure that development will 

protect the amenity of its surrounding areas taking into account privacy, overlooking, 
outlook, noise, smell, light, visual impact, pollution, daylight and sunlight. This is 
supported by section C07 of the MDDG (2017). 

Page 17



 
 
5.5.2 Plot one would sit, at its closest, 1.7m from the shared boundary with Thatched 

Cottage to the east and over 20 metres from this property itself. However, due to the 
orientation of the proposed dwelling there would be no windows at first floor level that 
would directly overlook the neighbouring property. Given the degree of separation, it 
is not considered that this would result in an overbearing impact on this neighbouring 
property or any others in proximity and it would not result in an unacceptable loss of 
light or loss of privacy to these neighbouring occupiers. 

 
5.5.3 Therefore, it is not considered that the development would represent an 

unneighbourly form of development or give arise to overlooking or overshadowing. 
The proposal is in accordance with Policy D1 of the LDP and the NPPF.  

 
5.6 Living Conditions and Amenity Space 

 
5.6.1 The proposal would provide three / four bedroom dwellings, significantly above the 

minimum 97sq.m required for a two storey four bedroom dwelling as set out in the 
Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS). The habitable rooms would be 
provided with natural light and ventilation, as such, there are no concerns with quality 
of accommodation. 
 

5.6.2 Policy D1 of the approved LDP requires all development to provide sufficient and 
usable private and public amenity spaces, green infrastructure and public open 
spaces. In addition, the adopted MDDG SPD advises a suitable garden size for each 
type of dwellinghouse, namely 100m2 of private amenity space for dwellings with 
three or more bedrooms, 50m2 for smaller dwellings and 25m2 for flats.  
 

5.6.3 Garden amenity areas would be very generous, with each plot benefiting from over 
400sq.m in this instance, far in excess of 100sqm of amenity space would be 
provided to accord with the MDDG SPD and again, no concerns are raised in this 
regard. 
 

5.6.4 In light of the above, the proposal accords with the MDDG SPD and policy D1 of the 
LDP and the MDDG.  

 
5.7 Access, Parking and Highway Safety 
 
5.7.1 Policy T2 of the LDP aims to create and maintain an accessible environment, 

requiring development proposals, inter alia, to provide sufficient parking facilities 
having regard to the Council’s adopted parking standards. Similarly, Policy D1 of the 
LDP seeks to include safe and secure vehicle and cycle parking having regard to the 
Council’s adopted parking standards in the Vehicle Parking SPD. 
 

5.7.2 The NPPF refers in paragraph 111 that, ‘development should only be prevented or 
refused on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety’. 
 

5.7.3 Following an initial objection from the Highway Authority, the proposal was amended 
to provide a single central access from Green Lane. A Highways Report was also 
submitted to assess the safety of the proposed access. The results elucidate that 
there have been no accidents in this location for the past 10 years and that the actual 
speed of traffic passing the site is lower than the limits imposed, being 36.7mph 
eastbound and 13.6mph westbound.  

 

Page 18



 
5.7.4 The proposed access would be approximately 30m from the junction of Green Lane 

and Mangapp Chase and moving past this junction going west, there is a speed 
change from 30mph to the national speed limit (60mph), submitted  

 
5.7.5 The Highway Authority were re-consulted and advise that the submitted Highways 

Report, and results of an associated speed survey, demonstrate that the new access 
can be provided with appropriate visibility splays. On that basis, no objection was 
raised on highway safety grounds. Subject to conditions relating to a Construction 
Management Plan, the access width, visibility, unbound material, boundary 
treatments, cycle parking and a residential travel information pack.  

 
5.7.6 The proposal includes a single garage, measuring 3m x 7m internally, and two 

parking spaces for each dwelling, therefore providing sufficient car parking to meet 
the requirements of the Vehicle Parking SPD. In addition, sufficient turning space is 
provided within the site.  

 
5.7.7 The proposal is therefore in accordance with Policy D1 and T2 of the LDP and the 

NPPF. 
 
5.8 Trees, Ecology and Biodiversity 
 
5.8.1 Policy S1 of the LDP states that decision making should conserve and enhance the 

natural environment by providing protection and increasing local biodiversity and 
geodiversity, and effective management of the District’s green infrastructure network. 
Policy D1 of the same Plan advises that all development must respect and enhance 
the character and local context and make a positive contribution in terms of 
landscape, setting, townscape setting and skylines and in terms of the natural 
environment. Policy N2 of the LDP states that any development which could have an 
adverse impact on sites with designated features, priority habitats and /or protected 
species, either individually or cumulatively will require an assessment as required by 
the relevant legislation or national planning guidance. Where any potential adverse 
effects to the conservation value or biodiversity value of designated site are 
identified, the proposal will not normally be permitted. 

 
5.8.2 Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that, ‘Planning policies and decisions should 

contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by: (amongst other 
things) minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity’. 

 
Trees 
 

5.8.3 No Arboricultural Impact Assessment has been submitted with the application but 
given the boundary context of the site, the Council’s Arboricultural Consultant has 
been consulted on the application. 

 
5.8.4  The plans submitted illustrate that no trees would be removed from the site as those 

trees that are located on the boundary would be located adjacent to garden and/or 
amenity areas and their root protection areas would remain safeguarded. However, it 
is considered that some of the trees/hedgerows on the peripheries of the boundaries 
could be compromised as the development comes forward during the construction 
process. As such, details regarding the construction and location of tree and hedge 
protection measures should be provided within an Arboricultural Management 
Statement (AMS) and Tree Protection Plan (TPP) should be conditioned.  

 
Ecology 
 

Page 19



 
5.8.5 The applicant submitted an Ecological Appraisal, which found no evidence of 

protected species at the site and there are no non-statutory designated sites within 
1km of the site. However, the site falls within the Zone of Influence (ZoI) of the Essex 
Coast RAMS, which is discussed later in this report. 

 
5.8.6 The site is considered to be of low ecological value, with the peripheral trees and 

hedgerow being considered to have a higher value. The enhancement measures 
incorporated in the scheme, including additional tree, hedgerow and wildflower 
planting and amongst other measures, are considered to a have a positive residual 
effect.  

 
5.8.7 The Council’s Ecology Consultant was consulted on the revised Ecological Report 

and has stated that the proposals are considered acceptable subject to conditions 
relating to a subsequent Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy.  

 
Biodiversity Net Gain 
 

5.8.8 The Council’s Ecologist has no objection to the BNG Statement and calculations 
submitted.  
 

5.8.9 It is acknowledged by the Applicant that the proposals would lead to a net loss of -
38.96% (0.47) habitat units. The measures to compensate include an upgrade the 
current modified grassland, trees and hedgerow planting include additional tree and 
hedgerow planting and new parcels of meadow. Cumulatively this comes to only 0.06 
habitat units and as such, the Applicant will turn to the local habitat bank to purchase 
the necessary habitat units to me the development acceptable, coming to 0.58 units 
in order to meet the mandatory 10% BNG betterment. Given this strategy, the 
scheme is considered compliant with the Environment Act (2021). 
 
Impact on Designated Sites (RAMS) 
 

5.8.10 The site falls within the ‘Zone of Influence’ (ZoI) for one or more of the European 
designated sites scoped into the Essex Coast RAMS. The LPA must therefore 
undertake a habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) and secure a proportionate 
financial contribution towards the Essex Coast RAMS. 

 
5.8.11 The development will result in the net gain of 3 no. dwellings at the site. This falls 

below the scale at which bespoke advice is given from Natural England. To accord 
with NE’s requirements and strategy advice, an Essex Coast Recreational 
disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) HRA record has been 
completed to assess if the development would constitute a ‘Likely Significant Effect’ 
(LSE) to a European site in terms of increased recreational disturbance. The findings 
from HRA Stage 1: Screening Assessment, are listed below: 

 
HRA Stage 1: Screening Assessment Test 1 – the significance test 
 
Is the development within the Zone of Influence (ZoI) for the Essex Coat RAMS with 
respect to the below sites? Yes 
 
Does the planning application fall within the following development types? Yes, the 
development is for 3no. dwellings. 
 
HRA Stage 2: Appropriate Assessment Test 2 – the integrity test 
 
Is the proposal for 100 houses + (or equivalent)? No. 
 

Page 20



 
Is the proposal within or directly adjacent to one of the above European designated 
sites? No. 

 
Summary of Appropriate Assessment 

 
5.8.12 As the answer is no, it is advised that, should planning permission be forthcoming, a 

proportionate financial contribution should be secured in line with the Essex Coast 
RAMS requirements. Provided this mitigation is secured, it can be concluded that this 
planning application will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of the named 
European sites from recreational disturbance, when considered ‘in combination’ with 
other development. Natural England does not need to re-consult on this Appropriate 
Assessment. 

 
5.8.13 The Essex Coastal RAMS has been adopted. This document states that the flat rate 

for each new dwelling has been calculated at a figure of £163.86 (2024/25 figure) and 
thus, the developer contribution should be calculated at this figure.  

 
5.8.14 The applicant has provided the relevant checking and monitoring fees, and a 

completed and signed Unilateral Undertaking to ensure that the necessary mitigation 
is secured. 

 
Conclusion  

 
5.8.15 The RAMS mitigation has been secured via a legal agreement and there are no 

objections to the proposal with regard to ecology and biodiversity considerations 
having regard to LDP policy N2, and the guidance and paragraphs of the NPPF/PPG. 

 
5.9 Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
5.9.1 Policy D5 of the Local Development Plan sets out the Council’s approach to 

minimising flood risk. Policy S1 of the same Plan requires that new development is 
either located away from high-risk flood areas or is safe and flood resilient when it is 
not possible to avoid such areas. Policy D5 of the LDP also acknowledges that all 
development must demonstrate how it will maximize opportunities to reduce the 
causes and impacts of flooding through appropriate measures such as Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (SuDS). 

 
5.9.2 The site is entirely within Flood Zone 1 and presents a low risk from flooding. The site 

is less than 1 hectare and therefore does not require a Flood Risk Assessment to 
accompany the application nor does it require application of the Sequential Test as 
set out in the NPPF/NPPG. 

 
5.9.3 The Council’s Environmental Health Specialist has raised no objection to the 

proposal subject to conditions relating to a Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme and 
surface water drainage and foul drainage be attached to any permission granted.  

 
5.9.4 Subject to the above mentioned recommended conditions, the proposal accords with 

the NPPF and Policies D5 and S1 of the approved LDP. 
 
5.10 Planning Balance  
 
5.10.1 The site is outside any defined settlement boundary where the principle of new 

residential development is not supported. Notwithstanding, given the planning history 
for the site and that the Council cannot currently demonstrate a 5YHLS, the balance 
tilts in favour of approving development.  

 

Page 21



 
5.10.2 The proposal would result in three new dwellings which would result in a social 

benefit through the provision of new homes however given the scale of development 
this is given limited weight. There would be economic benefits resulting from the 
construction of the dwellings and also as the new occupants would support the 
facilities and services in the area. The environmental harm resulting from the 
development, in this rural location is offset by conditions to make the application 
acceptable. The design and appearance of the development and landscaping 
proposed is acceptable and this benefit is given moderate weight. Furthermore, in 
terms of environmental sustainability, the site is considered to be in a sustainable 
location where future occupants would not be reliant on the use of private cars. 
Whilst these benefits are relatively limited, they tip the balance in favour of the 
development. 

 
5.10.3 As such, the proposal would result in sustainable development and is therefore 

recommended for approval. 
 

6. RELEVANT SITE HISTORY 

 
6.1 There is no relevant planning history for the site. 
 

7. CONSULTATIONS AND REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 

 
7.1 Representations received from Parish / Town Council 
 

Name of Parish / Town 
Council 

Comment Officer Response 

Burnham-on-Crouch 
Town Council  

Refuse as the application is outside 
of the settlement boundary. The 
housing does not accord with 
policy H2 of the Local Plan and the 
need for two and three bed 
dwellings.  

Noted. Discussed in 
sections 5.1 and 5.2 

 
7.2 Statutory Consultees and Other Organisations (summarised) 

 

Name of External 
Consultee 

Comment Officer Response 

Highway Authority  No objection subject to conditions 
regarding Construction 
Management Plan, visibility splays, 
provision of the access, no 
unbound material, closure of 
existing access, planting not to 
impact visibility plays, cycle 
parking, Residential Travel 
Information Packs. . 

Discussed in section 5.7 

Lead Local Flood 
Authority 

Development is not major 
development therefore no 
comment. 

Noted 

 
  

Page 22



 
 

7.3 Internal Consultees (summarised) 
 

Name of Internal 
Consultee 

Comment Officer Response 

Environmental Health 
No objections subject to a 
condition relating to SuDS. 

Noted. Discussed in 
section 5.9 

Trees (Place Services) 

No objection subject to 
conditions regarding 
details of landscaping, 
retention and protection of 
existing trees. 

Discussed in section 5.8 

Ecology (Place Services) 

No objection subject to 
conditions relating to 
ecological enhancements, 
biodiversity enhancement 
strategy, BNG. 

Discussed in section 5.8 

Conservation Officer 

No objection subject to 
conditions regarding 
external materials and 
boundary fences. 

Discussed in section 5.4 

 

7.4 Representations Received from Interested Parties (summarised)  
 
7.4.1 19 letters were received objecting to the application and the reasons for objection 

are summarised as set out in the table below:  
 

Objecting Comment Officer Response  

Quantum of Development and Location 

 Overdevelopment of Green Lane 
and surrounding area 

 A field should not be used to 
build new housing 

 The field serves as a buffer 
between the new housing and 
the dwellings north of Burnham 

 The size and scale of the 
development is to the detriment 
of the surrounding area 

 Green Lane is a rural road and 
should not have housing 

 

Address in Section 5.1 

Design and Amenity 

 Poorly design houses that are 
not in keeping with the character 
of the area 

 The development appears like 
its own estate 

 Developments like this make 
Burnham look like every other 
settlement 

 Green Lane is a charming road 

Addressed at Sections 5.3 and 5.5 

Page 23



 

Objecting Comment Officer Response  

and should remain so 

 New development will introduce 
more light, noise and air 
pollution into the area 

 Loss of light to the Thatched 
Cottage 

 

Highways and Access 

 Entrance to the site is 
dangerous as it is set on a blind 
corner with a road that is 60mph 

 Green Lane is very narrow, with 
a poor road surface and ditches 
on either side that make it 
dangerous 

 Although the Highways report 
states that vehicles travel at 
lesser speeds, it does not take 
into account of hard braking or 
approach very slowly as it is a 
dangerous bend 

 The road has become very busy 
and used as a ‘cut through’ or 
‘rat run’ 

 There is no pathway and the 
road is unable for pedestrians at 
certain times of the day 

 Recent housing developments 
have led to more pedestrians on 
the road in this area 

 There have been many 
accidents in recent years. The 
Highways report does not 
acknowledge that. 

 Construction traffic should be 
routed to enter the site from the 
east and leave from the west 

 

Addressed in Section 5.7 

Local Housing Need 

 Large houses like this do 
nothing to assist the housing 
deficit as they will be 
unaffordable to most 

 The Burnham Waters 
Development has many houses 
unsold 

 The area needs more 
bungalows, not larger dwellings 

Addressed in Section 5.1 and 5.2 

Infrastructure 

 Not enough school places 

Noted. The development is a minor 
application and therefore S106 financial 
contributions towards these services 

Page 24



 

Objecting Comment Officer Response  

 The sewer and water system is 
inadequate 

 There are not enough doctor’s or 
dentist’s surgeries 

and infrastructures are not triggered in 
this instance. 

Drainage 

 Houses will be built on a slope 
that will lead to drainage issues 

 There are longstanding drainage 
issues in the area 

 The drainage issue will add a 
further hazard to the dangerous 
road 

 

Addressed in Section 5.9 

Ecology 

 Haven wildlife and there is a 
badger sett onsite 

 Other species include muntjac, 
foxes and birds of prey 

 Loss of hedgerow and trees that 
are important to wildlife 

 

Addressed in Section 5.8 

Heritage 

 The Thatched Cottage is a listed 
building and the development 
will overshadow and be 
detrimental to its setting  

 

Addressed in Section 5.4 

 
7.4.2 One letter was received in support of the application and the reasons for support are 

summarised as set out in the table below: 
 

Supporting Comment Officer Response  

 Wonderful addition to Green 
Lane, in keeping with other 
houses 

 Access is no more dangerous 
than others along the road that 
have been approved 

 Won’t noticeably increase the 
number of people using the lane 

 There are other areas for local 
wildlife 

Noted 

 
  

Page 25



 
 
7.4.3 One letter was received commenting on the application and is summarised as set 

out in the table below: 
 

Comment Officer Response  

No objection but request a condition 
that all construction traffic must enter 
via the east and clear signage directing 
traffic to this extent 

The Highways Authority has not 
requested this, therefore such a 
condition is not recommended 

 
 
7.5 Site Notices 
 
7.5.1 Four notices were displayed adjacent or close to the site from 24 December 2024: 

 One adjacent to the site to the south of Green Lane; 

 One opposite the site to the north of Green Lane; 

 One adjacent to Thatched Cottage; and 

 One on Mangapp Close. 
 

8. PROPOSED CONDITIONS: 

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiry of three 

years from the date of this permission.  
REASON: To comply with Section 91(1) of The Town & Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended). 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans and documents as shown on the decision notice.  
REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with 
the details as approved, in accordance with National Planning Policy 
Framework and policy D1 of the Maldon District Local Development Plan.  

3. No development shall take place, including any ground works or demolition, 
until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in 
writing, by the local planning authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period.  
 
The Plan shall provide for: 
a. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors,  
b. loading and unloading of plant and materials,  
c. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development,  
d. wheel and underbody washing facilities.  
 
The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. 
REASON: To ensure that on-street parking of these vehicles in the adjoining 
streets does not occur and to ensure that loose materials and spoil are not 
brought out onto the highway in the interests of highway safety in accordance 
with policy T2 of the Maldon District Local Development Plan. 

4. Prior to first occupation of the development and as shown on drawing no. 
REDW-3569-400, the access at its centre line shall be provided with a clear to 
ground visibility splay with dimensions of 2.4 metres by 25 metres to the east, 
and 2.4 metres by 64 metres to the west, as measured from and along the 
nearside edge of the carriageway. Such vehicular visibility splays shall be 
provided before the access is first used by vehicular traffic relating to the 
development and retained free of any obstruction at all times.  

Page 26



 
REASON: To provide adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the 
access and those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway 
safety in accordance with policy T2 of the Maldon District Local Development 
Plan. 

5. Prior to first occupation of the development, and as shown in principle on 
planning drawing no. REDW-3569-400, the vehicular access shall be 
constructed at right angles to the highway boundary and to the existing 
carriageway. The width of the access at its junction with the highway shall be 
5.5 metres for the first 6 metres from the back edge of the carriageway and 
shall be provided with an appropriate vehicular crossing of the highway verge.   
REASON: To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a 
controlled manner and to ensure that opposing vehicles can pass clear of the 
limits of the highway, in the interests of highway safety in accordance with 
policy T2 of the Maldon District Local Development Plan. 

6. No unbound material shall be used in the surface treatment of the vehicular 
access within 6 metres of the highway boundary.  
REASON: To avoid displacement of loose material onto the highway in the 
interests of highway safety in accordance with policy T2 of the Maldon District 
Local Development Plan. 

7. Prior to first occupation of the development, the existing vehicular access to 
the east of the site shall be suitably and permanently closed incorporating the 
reinstatement to full height of the highway verge. 
REASON: To ensure the removal of and to preclude the creation of 
unnecessary points of traffic conflict in the highway in the interest of highway 
safety in accordance with policy T2 of the Maldon District Local Development 
Plan. 

8. The proposed new boundary planting shall be planted a minimum of 1 metre 
back from the highway boundary and any visibility splay.  
REASON: To ensure that the future outward growth of the planting does not 
encroach upon the highway or interfere with the passage of users of the 
highway, to preserve the integrity of the highway and in the interests of 
highway safety and in accordance with policy T2 of the Maldon District Local 
Development Pla. 

9. Prior to first occupation of the development, cycle parking shall be provided in 
accordance with Maldon District Council’s Parking Standards. The approved 
facility shall be secure, convenient, covered and retained at all times.  
REASON: To ensure appropriate cycle parking is provided in the interest of 
highway safety and amenity in accordance with policies D1 and T2 of the 
Maldon District Local Development Plan. 

10. Prior to first occupation of the development, the Developer shall be 
responsible for the provision, implementation and distribution of a Residential 
Travel Information Pack for sustainable transport, approved by Essex County 
Council, to include six one day travel vouchers for use with the relevant local 
public transport operator. These packs (including tickets) are to be provided 
by the Developer to each dwelling free of charge.  
REASON: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting 
sustainable development and transport in accordance with policy T2 of the 
Maldon District Local Development Plan. 

11. All mitigation measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance with 
the details contained in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Crossland 
Ecology, December 2024). This may include the appointment of an 
appropriately competent person e.g., an Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW) to 
provide on-site ecological expertise during construction. The appointed 
person shall undertake all activities, and works shall be carried out, in 
accordance with the approved details. 

Page 27



 
REASON: To enhance protected and Priority species & habitats and allow the 
LPA to discharge its duties under the NPPF 2023 and s40 of the NERC Act 
2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in order to ensure that the interests of 
ecology and biodiversity or protected species are addressed in accordance 
with policy N2 of the Maldon District Local Development Plan. 

12. No works above ground level shall take place until a Biodiversity 
Enhancement Strategy for protected and Priority species shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The content of the 
Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:  

 
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement 

measures;  
b) detailed designs or product descriptions to achieve stated objectives;  
c) locations, orientations, and heights of proposed enhancement 

measures by appropriate maps and plans;  
d) timetable for implementation;  
e) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;  
f) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant). 

The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details prior to occupation and shall be retained in that manner 
thereafter.”  

 
The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved 
details. 
REASON: To enhance protected and Priority species & habitats and allow the 
LPA to discharge its duties under the NPPF 2023 and s40 of the NERC Act 
2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in order to ensure that the interests of 
ecology and biodiversity or protected species are addressed in accordance 
with policy N2 of the Maldon District Local Development Plan. 

13. Prior to installation of any external lighting, a lighting design scheme for 
biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall identify how lighting impacts will be avoided upon 
the Essex Estuaries SAC and the Crouch and Roach Estuaries SPA, Ramsar 
& SSSI and show how and where external lighting will be installed (through 
the provision of appropriate lighting plans, drawings and technical 
specifications) so that it can be clearly demonstrated that lighting will not 
result in impacts upon the statutory designated sites. All external lighting shall 
be installed in accordance with the specifications and locations set out in the 
scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the scheme. Under no 
circumstances should any other external lighting be installed without prior 
consent from the local planning authority. 
REASON: To enhance protected and Priority species & habitats and allow the 
LPA to discharge its duties under the NPPF 2023 and s40 of the NERC Act 
2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in order to ensure that the interests of 
ecology and biodiversity or protected species are addressed in accordance 
with policy N2 of the Maldon District Local Development Plan. 

14. No development above slab level shall take place until full details of both hard 
and soft landscape works to be carried out have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. These details shall include 
the layout of the hard landscaped areas with the materials and finishes to be 
used and details of the soft landscape works including schedules of shrubs 
and trees to be planted, noting the species, stock size, proposed 
numbers/densities and details of the planting scheme’s implementation, 
aftercare and maintenance programme. The hard landscape works shall be 
carried out as approved prior to first occupation of the development hereby 
approved unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the local planning 

Page 28



 
authority. The soft landscape works shall be carried out as approved within 
the first available planting season (October to March inclusive) following the 
commencement of the development, unless otherwise first agreed in writing 
by the local planning authority. If within a period of five years from the date of 
the planting of any tree or plant, or any tree or plant planted in its 
replacement, is removed, uprooted, destroyed, dies, or becomes, in the 
opinion of the local planning authority, seriously damaged or defective, 
another tree or plant of the same species and size as that originally planted 
shall be planted in the same place, unless the local planning authority gives 
its written consent to any variation. 
REASON: In the interest of the character and appearance of the area in 
accordance with policy D1 of the approved Local Development Plan 2017 and 
guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

15. No development shall commence until information has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority, in accordance with the 
requirements of BS5837:2012, in relation to tree retention and protection as 
follows:  

 Tree survey detailing works required  

 Trees to be retained  

 Tree retention protection plan  

 Tree constraints plan  

 Arboricultural implication assessment  

 Arboricultural method statement (including drainage service runs and 
construction of hard surfaces). 

 
The protective fencing and ground protection shall be retained until all 
equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the 
site. If within five years from the completion of the development an existing 
tree is removed, destroyed, dies, or becomes, in the opinion of the local 
planning authority, seriously damaged or defective, a replacement tree shall 
be planted within the site of such species and size and shall be planted at 
such time, as specified in writing by the local planning authority. The tree 
protection measures shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
detail. 
REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and 
appearance of the development and to secure opportunities for enhancing the 
site’s nature conservation value in accordance with Policies D1, N1 and N2 of 
the approved Maldon District Local Development Plan and the NPPF. 

16. No development work above ground level shall take place until a detailed 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme as specified in the Essex Sustainable 
Drainage Systems Design Guide has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. This must be conducted by a 
competent person and include written explanation of any data provided. The 
scheme shall subsequently be implemented prior to occupation of the 
development and should include and not be limited to: 

 Discharge rates/location  

 Storage volumes  

 Treatment requirement  

 Detailed drainage plan 

 A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any 
minor changes to the approved strategy 

 

Page 29



 
The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved 
scheme.  
REASON: To ensure appropriate maintenance arrangements are put in place 
to enable the surface water drainage system to function as intended to ensure 
mitigation against flood risk. Failure to provide the above required information 
prior to occupation may result in the installation of a system that is not 
properly maintained and may increase flood risk or pollution hazard from the 
site. 

17. No above ground works shall commence until high quality photographs or 
samples or product details of the materials to be used in the construction of 
the external surfaces, including windows, doors, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
REASON: In the interests of the character and appearance of the 
development in accordance with Policies D1 and D3 of the approved Maldon 
District Local Development Plan and the NPPF. 

18. Scaled elevation and plan drawings of any new boundary fences, illustrating 
their location, design, materials and finish, shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the LPA prior to their erection. The development shall thereafter 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
REASON: In the interests of the character and appearance of the 
development in accordance with Policies D1 and D3 of the approved Maldon 
District Local Development Plan and the NPPF. 

19. No development works above ground level shall occur until details of the foul 
drainage scheme to serve the development have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved scheme 
shall be implemented prior to the first occupation of the development and then 
maintained and retained at all times thereafter. 
REASON: To ensure the incorporation of an appropriate drainage scheme 
and to avoid pollution of the water environment and to minimise flood risk in 
accordance with policy D5 of the Maldon District Local Development Plan. 

 
Application Plans: 
23.668 02 Reb B Site Layout Plan 
REDW-3569-400 Highway Access 
10 Street Scene 
09 Garages 
08 Rev A Plot 3 Elevations 
07 Rev A Plot 3 Floor Plans 
06 Rev A Plot 2 Elevations 
05 Rev A Plot 2 Floor Plans 
04 Rev A Plot 1 Elevations 
03 Rev A Plot 1 Elevations 

Page 30


	Agenda
	5 24/00947/FUL (PD),Land West of Thatched Cottage Green Lane Burnham-On-Crouch Essex

